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University of Wisconsin-Madison 
Director, Research Animal Resources 
1710 University Avenue 
396 Enzyme Institute 
Madison, Wisconsin 53726 
 
 

CITATION AND NOTIFICATION OF PENALTY 
 
We believe that you violated the Animal Welfare Act (7 U.S.C. § 2131 et seq.) 
(AWA), as described below.  
 
 
Dates of Alleged Violation: March 4, 2015, April 4, 2015, April 12, 2015,  
June 29, 2015, July 5, 2015, July 7, 2015, July 16, 2015, October 15, 2015, 
December 2, 2015, December 20, 2015, January 15, 2016, March 9, 2016, 
May 18, 2016, September 6, 2016, March 3, 2017, May 24, 2017, October 
18, 2017, November 6, 2017, February 13, 2018, March 15, 2018, October 
25, 2018, March 1, 2019, April 25, 2019 
 9 C.F.R. § 2.38(f)(1) Miscellaneous: handling: 
Handling of all animals shall be done as expeditiously and carefully as possible 
in a manner that does not cause trauma, overheating, excessive cooling, 
behavioral stress, physical harm, or unnecessary discomfort.   
 On March 4, 2015, University of Wisconsin-Madison (UWM) 

personnel failed to handle a nonhuman primate (NHP) in a manner 
that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort.  UWM personnel failed to properly transfer 
a NHP for cage sanitation.  The NHP pushed its way out of its 
enclosure and subsequently sustained oral and muzzle trauma.  
 
On April 4, 2015, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm or 
unnecessary discomfort.  A NHP escaped during a cage cleaning.  
The escaped NHP aggressively engaged a caged NHP, and as a result 
of the interaction, the escaped NHP sustained trauma to its left hand 
requiring amputation of a digit of that hand.      
 
On April 12, 2015, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort.  UWM personnel failed to secure an 
enclosure door and multiple NHPs escaped.  The NHPs sustained 
minor injuries including lacerations to their faces and bodies.  
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On June 29, 2015, UWM personnel failed to handle multiple NHPs in 
a manner that prevented them from experiencing trauma, physical 
harm, or unnecessary discomfort.  Seven NHPs escaped from their 
pen after they were able to push a Plexiglas door up to escape.  Five 
animals had injuries to their hands and fingers and received 
veterinary treatment, including two that required digit amputations.  
All of the animals’ injuries healed without further complications.   
 
On July 5, 2015, UWM personnel failed to handle two NHPs in a 
manner that prevented the NHPs from experiencing trauma, physical 
harm, or unnecessary discomfort.  The two NHPs escaped from their 
cage after UWM personnel opened the cage door.  One NHP 
sustained a nail avulsion on one digit while engaging in an aggressive 
interaction with a caged NHP.  After the encounter, the second NHP 
had minor scratches and bruising on its forehead. 
 
On July 7, 2015, UWM failed to handle two NHPs in a manner that 
prevented the NHPs from experiencing trauma, physical harm or 
unnecessary discomfort.  Two of the animals injured on June 29, 
2015 escaped through the locked Plexiglas door.  One NHP required 
two more partial digit amputations, sutures on its left wrist and 
wounds to its face.  The second animal lost a portion of its tongue 
and sustained wounds to its face.   
 
On July 16, 2015, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented the NHP from experiencing trauma, physical 
harm, or unnecessary discomfort.  UWM personnel failed to lock the 
enclosure door and a NHP escaped.  An adolescent NHP that was 
caged required amputation of its toe due to trauma sustained when it 
came into contact with the escaped NHP.   
 
On October 15, 2015, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort.  The NHP escaped when UWM personnel 
failed to properly transfer the NHP from its home cage to a transport 
device.  The NHP required amputation of a toe due to injury 
sustained during the escape.   
 
On December 2, 2015, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort.  UWM personnel failed to secure a door and 
an NHP escaped.  The NHP required amputation of a finger on its left 
hand due to injury sustained during the escape. 
 
On December 20, 2015, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
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unnecessary discomfort.  When UWM personnel failed to secure the 
enclosure door, the juvenile NHP escaped.  The animal made contact 
with caged NHPs and required surgery for injuries sustained to its tail 
tip and one arm.   
 
On January 15, 2016, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
matter that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort. After UWM personnel failed to ensure the 
cage lock worked properly, a NHP escaped and was injured.  The 
animal made contact with five caged NHPs that resulted in injury to 
those animals.  The animals required treatment for lacerations, tongue 
amputation, and sutures to repair wounds. 
 
On March 9, 2016, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort.  A NHP escaped when UWM personnel 
failed to secure a latch on a cage.  Subsequently, the NHP sustained 
injuries that required amputation of a digit of its right foot.  
 
On May 18, 2016, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort.  UWM personnel failed to properly transfer 
a NHP from its primary enclosure to a transport box and the animal 
escaped.  The NHP suffered a laceration on its face, a nail avulsion 
on its right foot, and required amputation of a digit on its left hand.  
 
On September 6, 2016, UWM personnel failed to handle NHPs in a 
manner that prevented the animals from experiencing trauma, 
physical harm, or unnecessary discomfort.  UWM failed to properly 
lock a cage resulting in the escape of two NHPs.  Four NHPs 
sustained injuries, including hand laceration that resulted in removal 
of one digit.  
 
On March 3, 2017, UWM personnel failed to handle NHPs in a 
manner that prevented the animals from experiencing trauma, 
physical harm, or unnecessary discomfort.  As a result of 
uncontrolled interaction with other NHPs, an escaped NHP suffered 
injuries that required wound closure and partial digit amputation.   
 
On May 24, 2017, UWM personnel failed to handle NHPs in a 
manner that prevented the animals from experiencing trauma, 
physical harm, or unnecessary discomfort. Two NHPs escaped their 
primary enclosure resulting in injuries that required wound closure 
and partial digit amputation.   
 
On October 18, 2017, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
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manner that prevented the animal from experiencing trauma, physical 
harm, or unnecessary discomfort.  A marmoset suffered injuries to its 
right hind foot when UWM personnel closed its foot in an enclosure 
door.  The incident required partial digit amputation of the affected 
foot.   
 
On November 6, 2017, UWM personnel failed to handle an NHP in a 
manner that prevented the animal from experiencing trauma, physical 
harm or unnecessary discomfort.  The same marmoset injured on 
October 18, 2017 suffered injuries to its right hind foot when UWM 
personnel closed its foot in an enclosure door.  The incident required 
partial amputation of the affected foot.   
 
On February 13, 2018, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort.  The NHP escaped its primary enclosure and 
sustained injuries that required wound closure and partial digit 
amputation during the course of uncontrolled interactions with other 
NHPs housed in the same room.   
 
On March 15, 2018, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort.  The NHP escaped its primary enclosure 
and, in the course of uncontrolled interactions with other NHPs 
housed in the same room, sustained injuries that required wound 
closure and partial digit amputations.   
 
On October 25, 2018, UWM personnel failed to handle an animal in 
a manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, 
or unnecessary discomfort.  A peromyscus mouse had its head caught 
between the polypropylene enclosure and the lid.  Necropsy findings 
identified signs of rapid hypoxia.   
 
On March 1, 2019, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort.  Due to improper lock placement, the NHP 
escaped its enclosure and, in the course of uncontrolled interactions 
with other NHPs, sustained injuries that resulted in distal tongue loss 
and required surgical repair, including suturing and partial digit 
amputations.   
 
On April 25, 2019, UWM personnel failed to handle a NHP in a 
manner that prevented it from experiencing trauma, physical harm, or 
unnecessary discomfort.  Due to improper lock placement, the NHP 
escaped its enclosure and, in the course of uncontrolled interactions 
with other NHPs, sustained injuries that resulted in distal tongue loss 
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and required surgical repair, including suturing and partial digit 
amputations.  
 
 

  Date of Alleged Violation: December 24, 2015 and December 28, 2015 
 9 C.F.R. § 3.81(a)(3) Environment enhancement to promote psychological 
well-being: social grouping:  
Nonhuman primates may not be housed with other species of primates or 
animals unless they are compatible, do not prevent access to food, water or 
shelter by individuals animals, and are not known to be hazardous to the health 
and well-being of each other.  Compatibility of nonhuman primates must be 
determined in accordance with generally accepted professional practice and 
actual observations, as directed by the attending veterinarian, to ensure that the 
nonhuman primates are in fact compatible.  Individually housed nonhuman 
primates must be able to see and hear nonhuman primates of their own or 
compatible species unless the attending veterinarian determines that it would 
endanger their health, safety, or well-being.   
 On December 24, 2015, a younger NHP suffered wounds that 

affected multiple muscle layers on its back and involved a partially 
exposed vertebrae (bone). The wounds were caused by a cagemate.  
After receiving medical treatment that included closure of wounds, 
the animal was returned to its cage and social partners, including the 
cagemate that caused the injuries.  
 
On December 28, 2015, UWM found the NHP dead in its enclosure. 
A necropsy showed severe trauma and suggests the animal died 
acutely with traumatic thoracic injuries. 
 

   Date of Alleged Violation: December 9, 2015 
 9 C.F.R. § 3.83 Watering:  
Potable water must be provided in sufficient quantity to every nonhuman 
primate housed at the facility.  If potable water is not continually available to 
the nonhuman primates, it must be offered to them as often as necessary to 
ensure their health and wellbeing.   
 UWM failed to provide potable water to all NHPs housed at its 

facilities.  The drinking water supply for three NHPs was 
disconnected for no less than four days causing dehydration in all 
NHPs.  The NHPs required specialized intravenous fluid therapy for 
rehydration.  After responding poorly to the intravenous fluid 
therapy, one NHP was euthanized.  
 

   Date of Alleged Violation: June 25, 2016 
 9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a) Facilities, general: structural strength:  
The facility must be constructed of such material and of such strength as 
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appropriate for the animals involved.  The indoor and outdoor housing facilities 
shall be structurally sound and shall be maintained in good repair to protect the 
animals from injury and to contain the animals.  
 UWM failed to construct enclosures to securely contain two ground 

squirrels.  UWM failed to properly latch the lid to the enclosure of 
two squirrels, resulting in their escape.  One ground squirrel was 
found and the second squirrel was not located. 
 

   Date of Alleged Violation: January 25, 2016 
 9 C.F.R. § 3.129(a) Feeding:  
The food shall be wholesome, palatable, and free from contamination and of 
sufficient quantity and nutritive value to maintain all animals in good health.  
The diet shall be prepared with consideration for the age, species, condition, 
size, and type of the animal.  Animals shall be fed at least once a day except as 
dictated by hibernation, veterinary treatment, normal fasts, or other 
professionally acceptable practices.  
 UWM failed to provide food in sufficient quantities and nutritive 

value to maintain three cages of peromyscus mice in good health.  
Room sheets completed by UWM personnel show that UWM 
personnel failed to feed the mice for three consecutive days on 
January 22, 2016, January 23, 2016, and January 24, 2016.  In one of 
the three cages, a mouse was found dead and another in the same 
cage was found with an unhealthy appearance.  The dead mouse had 
been cannibalized by the second mouse.  The stomach contents of the 
dead mouse contained hair, paper, and bedding.  The second mouse 
was euthanized.   
 

    
The penalty for the alleged violation(s) described above is $74,000. 
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